THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Case No. 2012-CP-10-3857

Appellate Case No. 2014-002766

Shipwatch Condominium Association, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Carolina Concrete Systems, Inc.; Sisroy Engineering, LLC; Robert G. Sisroy, individually;
Terrence J. McKelvey; Glasgow Roofing, Inc.; GlassTec, Inc.; Spectec, Inc.; Sonneborn, Inc.;
Chimney Sweeps, Inc.; Low Country Chimneys, Inc.; EFCO Corp.; W.C. Johnston Architectural
Sales, Inc.; Charleston Glass Company, Inc.; First Exteriors, LLC; Acrocrete, Inc.; BASF Corp.;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err in granting partial summary judgment in favor of CCS despite the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to when Appellant had notice of its construction-defect claims against Respondents?

- II. Did the lower court err in granting partial summary judgment on the statute of limitations without following applicable precedent of the discovery rule, and without considering the applicable doctrine regarding the equitable tolling of the statute of limitations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a ruling from the bench in which the lower court granted partial summary judgment in favor of the Respondent, general contractor Carolina Concrete Systems (“CCS”). The Appellant sued CCS and the other Respondents for negligent repair work performed at Shipwatch, a 104 unit oceanfront condominium complex located on Isle of Palms, South Carolina.

The Appellant is the Shipwatch homeowners association, and a companion lawsuit was filed against the same defendants by Oscar Mendiondo, Class Representative of the class of the 104 homeowners at Shipwatch. That class was certified by order of the lower court on August 8, 2014. The lower court granted partial summary judgment to CCS in that matter as well, and that case is also on appeal for the reasons stated herein.

Following limited oral arguments during the hearing on October 27, 2014, and without the opportunity to review the written memoranda, the lower court ordered that CCS’s motion was granted in part. Transcript of Hearing at 6. CCS presented its written brief to the lower court moments before the hearing, and the lower court adopted the version of facts presented by CCS, despite the material presented by Appellants which establishes the existence of factual disputes. Although the lower court requested that CCS prepare a proposed order, CCS elected to proceed without a formal written order. This appeal is, thus, based upon the lower court’s oral comments at the hearing and the one-page “Form 4” Order filed three days after the hearing, which indicated only that the motion of CCS had been granted in part. R. at _____. The lower court abandoned any requirement of a formal written order when it denied the Appellant’s Motion for Rehearing on December 1, 2014.

The lower court's order granting partial summary judgment must be reversed with instructions to allow the case to proceed to the jury, because the lower court failed to apply the proper standard when considering a motion for summary judgment; failed to apply the discovery rule when considering the statute of limitations defense; and failed to recognize the applicability of the doctrine of equitable tolling.

FACTS

On June 13, 2012, Appellant filed this action against CCS and the other Respondents to assert construction and design defect claims for the Shipwatch Condominiums on the Isle of Palms ("Shipwatch"). The Shipwatch Condominium Association, Inc. is the homeowner's association for the 104 condominium units within the 4 buildings at Shipwatch.

The original construction of Shipwatch was completed in the mid-1980's. Respondents were not involved in the original construction. Rather, Respondents are those entities which acted as contractors, design professionals, manufacturers, distributors, and/or suppliers which provided labor and material for extensive renovations and repairs conducted at Shipwatch from 2002 to 2012.

Linda Jernigan is the property manager for Shipwatch, and has served in that role since February 2005. She testified that she and the homeowners association considered CCS (and Bob Wiggins, its principal) to be their "contractor of choice" for the renovations and repairs conducted at Shipwatch from 2002 through 2011. Deposition of Linda Jernigan at 231. "I would have recommended that we do what Bob Wiggins says, because he was our contractor of choice. I had great faith and trust in him." Id.

CCS and the other Respondents began extensive renovation and repairs at Shipwatch in November 2002. The repairs encompassed the chimneys, balconies, doors, windows, exterior

cladding system, ceilings in stairwells, concrete, roofs, and handrails. CCS also agreed to perform regular inspections and caulking of the buildings. CCS contended that its work from 2002 to 2012 was one continuous project, and it worked under the same building permit from 2003 through 2012.

As recently as April 14, 2011, CCS reported to Appellant that “[o]verall the Duroc/BASF stucco system is in good condition. . . . Our inspection reveals that the buildings are in good condition.” Plaintiffs’ Supp. Response in Opp. to CCS Motion, Exhibit 36. CCS reassured the Appellant of the sufficiency of its work by stating, among other things: “General maintenance of the doors and windows, deck coatings, stucco system and caulk inspection and repairs on an annual maintenance program should extend the life cycle of Shipwatch Properties for years to come.” Id.

In late 2011, Appellant engaged the engineering firm Sutton-Kennerly & Associates (“SKA”) to examine the Project in order to prepare for the final phase of the renovation and repairs at Shipwatch. During its preparation, SKA discovered that the repair work performed by CCS and its team was defective and deficient, and by its reports in January and April of 2012, SKA concluded that Shipwatch required a massive amount of immediate corrective action in order to comply with the applicable building codes and standards. See SKA Reports dated January 11 and April 5, 2012.

In its 2012 reports, SKA identified problems with the DEFS cladding system, metal stud framing, window and door flashing, waterproofing at balconies, flashing at roof to wall intersections, Tyvek moisture barrier, and wall penetrations, among other major concerns. Less than ninety days after SKA issued its report on April 5, 2012, Appellant commenced the instant lawsuit.

The immediate nature of the problems with the work performed by CCS compelled Appellant to hire a new contractor to correct these problems, and that remedial work began in September, 2013. That new work, which included a total removal and replacement of the exterior DEFS

cladding installed by CCS and its team, has a total cost in excess of \$15 million, and has required all unit owners to vacate their property for more than 9 months during repairs, resulting in lost rent and other loss of use claims in excess of \$6 million. The aggregate damages claim in the underlying actions against the Respondents exceeds \$20 million.

Prior to the mediation of these cases, CCS filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, which simply stated that CCS believed “Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations.” CCS Motion for Summary Judgment dated Sept. 15, 2014. CCS provided no further explanation of the basis for its motion until the hearing on October 27, 2014, when CCS filed and submitted a supporting memorandum moments before the hearing began. The lower court acknowledged receipt of memoranda from both CCS and Shipwatch as the hearing began. Tr. at 2.

In its argument in support of summary judgment, CCS improperly used the term “EIFS” (also known as “synthetic stucco” or “artificial stucco”) interchangeably with the term “DEFS”. Tr. at 3. The term “EIFS” stands for “Exterior Insulation and Finish System” which was a synthetic stucco cladding system popular and widely installed in projects during the 1980’s. The original cladding installed on Shipwatch in the mid-1980’s was an EIFS system. In contrast, “DEFS” stands for Direct-Applied Exterior Finish System, which was the replacement cladding that CCS installed at Shipwatch from 2002 to 2011.

The DEFS cladding was installed by CCS in order to replace the aged and failing original 1980’s EIFS cladding. Appellant does not assert that CCS performed any installation of EIFS cladding in the 1980’s, nor does Appellant attempt to make claims against any of the original 1980’s contractors in the underlying lawsuit. In spite of those facts, CCS argued at the hearing that somehow Appellant’s knowledge of the aged and failing 1980’s EIFS cladding caused the statute

of limitations clock to begin running as to future claims against CCS for deficient DEFS installation.

At the hearing, Appellant proffered dozens of documentary exhibits and enlarged presentation boards showing the time line of events relating to the claims against CCS, including the aforementioned April 14, 2011 letter from CCS declaring its work to be in good condition. Plaintiffs' Supp. Response, Exh. 36. The lower court declined to review any of these documents during the hearing, stating "I don't need all of this. This is summary judgment, isn't it? . . . It's not going to influence me. Maybe it will influence you. If it makes you feel better, put it up." Tr. at 5.

The lower court adopted the flawed reasoning espoused by CCS at the hearing, and did not acknowledge the factual dispute over the date upon which the Appellant knew, or reasonably should have known, that it had a claim against CCS and the other Respondents relating to their work performed from 2002 to 2011. The Court asked counsel for Appellant: "Well, why don't you start by telling me how in the world you get any action for damages done for work in 2005?" Tr. at 5. Counsel for Appellant replied that the instant lawsuit did not involve the installation of the original artificial stucco; that CCS reported that it had corrected any workmanship issues it had during the course of the DEFS installation; and that Appellant did not know it had any problems with Respondents' work until SKA's reports in January and April, 2012.

The lower court nonetheless ruled from the bench a few moments later, granting partial summary judgment against Appellant. The lower court stated that "[Plaintiffs] are entitled to sue [CCS] for anything [Plaintiffs] can relate to things that [CCS] did in 2010." Tr. at 6. Although the Court instructed counsel for CCS to prepare a formal written order, the Court later abandoned that requirement by denying Shipwatch's motion for reconsideration in the absence of a formal written order. This appeal is, accordingly, based upon the transcript of the hearing which establishes the

basis of the bench ruling, and by the standard language of a Form 4 Order dated October 30, 2014 which indicated that the motion was granted in part. See, Transcript of Hearing dated Oct. 27, 2014 and Form 4 Order dated Oct. 30, 2014.

Appellant moved for rehearing and filed a supplemental brief which, among other things, included copies of the 41 documentary exhibits which the lower court declined to consider at the hearing. Plaintiffs' Supp. Response, supra. Those exhibits, along with the other documents in the Record on Appeal, provide overwhelming evidence of a genuine issue of material fact as to the date upon which Appellant knew or reasonably should have been aware of problems with the Respondents' repair and renovation work. On December 1, 2014 the lower court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration without oral argument, and this appeal followed.

Appellant brought this action based upon defects and deficiencies in the repairs and renovation work performed by the Respondents. Appellant was obviously aware that the EIFS cladding originally installed in the 1980's was aged and failing. That was the reason why Respondents were working at Shipwatch. Appellant did not, however, know that the repair and renovation work by Respondents was itself defective, until the engineers at SKA identified these issues in reports in January and April of 2012.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). “Summary judgment is proper when, after reviewing the motion, supporting affidavits, and the pleadings, there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In

determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Id.

When reviewing the trial court’s decision to grant summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard of review applied by the trial court. Boyd v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 399 S.C. 401, 406, 732 S.E.2d 180, 183 (Ct. App. 2012).

ARGUMENT

I. Partial Summary Judgment Against Appellant was Improper When the Lower Court Disregarded the Existence of a Genuine Issue of Material Fact as to When Appellant Discovered its Legal Claims Against Respondents.

The lower court ruled that Appellant cannot sue respondents for work performed before January 1, 2010. Specifically, the lower court stated in its ruling from the bench: “You are entitled to sue [CCS] for anything you can relate to things [CCS] did in 2010.” The lower court’s bench ruling was based upon the facts as represented by CCS at the hearing, without considering testimony, documents, or other evidence offered by Appellant. Tr. at 6. The opposing brief and exhibits which Appellant provided to the lower court directly contradict the facts as presented by CCS, and provide ample basis for establishing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

CCS first argued that “[t]he lawsuit . . . seeks to recover costs and damages associated with the original EIFS system applied to the building, sliding glass doors, windows, of which were originally installed in the buildings in 1995” Tr. at 3. However, CCS was not involved in the original construction of Shipwatch. CCS was engaged and paid for work performed from 2002 through 2012 including the installation of DEFS. Plaintiff’s Response in Opposition to Summary Judgment, Exhibit B. Appellant first became aware of defects in the DEFS installation and CCS’s other repair and renovation work when Appellant received SKA’s reports dated January 11 and April

5, 2012. R. at _____. At the very least, the evidence contained in the exhibits referenced above establish the existence of a factual dispute between the positions of CCS and the Appellant.

Moreover, contrary to its own argument, the language CCS relied upon from the depositions of Shipwatch board members actually establishes the existence of disputed facts: CCS quotes board member Arnie Schaewe's testimony about known "leakage problems at end walls, oceanside sliding glass doors, and bay windows when CCS began work in 2003." Tr. at 3; CCS Memorandum in Support at 5. A plain reading of that quoted language establishes that Mr. Schaewe was referring to original work in place before CCS even began its repairs in 2003. Similarly, CCS offered deposition testimony of board member Fred Trombino: "the board knew EIFS was problematic and not the right application for a coastal environment." CCS Memorandum in Support at 5. However, as noted above, the "EIFS" material was installed on the Project as part of original construction in the 1980's. There is nothing in that quote which supports CCS's argument that Mr. Trombino knew that there were defects in the repair and renovation work that CCS performed.

CCS next argued that "... the HOA minutes clearly identify that the plaintiffs knew about problems with the synthetic stucco, with the EIFS well before 2009." Tr. at 3. Of course, this is certainly not evidence that Appellant had knowledge that the renovation and repair work by CCS was deficient. Indeed, in its argument at the summary judgment hearing, CCS acknowledged that in 2008, Appellant was planning to engage CCS for removal of the original 1980's synthetic stucco cladding: "In fact, probably the most telling piece of exhibit [sic] is in September of 2008, Ms. Jernigan goes to the board saying that she has a contract, and estimate for \$2.3 million to do various repairs of the project, 1.8 million of which is for the removal of the remaining parts of this synthetic stucco off the buildings." Tr. at 3-4. After 2008, CCS was indeed hired and paid to perform

hundreds of thousands of dollars worth of work relating to the removal and replacement of the aged and failing original 1980's cladding at Shipwatch. Plaintiffs' Memo. In Opp., Exh. B. Knowledge of the aged and failing 1980's cladding in 2008 certainly cannot establish that Appellant had notice of defective repairs by CCS that had yet to be performed.

CCS continued its argument by noting that "... in 2003, 2004, 2005, the HOA implemented a program to remove somewhere in the neighborhood of 5 to 15 sliding glass doors and some periodic windows because of various leaks." Tr. at 4. "But as far as the work and cost associated with removing things that they clearly knew about in 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, that's what we are trying to sever from this lawsuit. And that includes the sliding glass doors, the windows, and the cost associated with removing the synthetic stucco." Id.

As noted above, Appellant planned for a phased removal and replacement of the aged and failing original EIFS cladding, along with the original sliding glass doors and windows during the period of 2002 through 2011. The evidence presented to the lower court establishes only that Appellant knew of the aged and failing original 1980's building elements. CCS's effort to transform knowledge of those aged and failing elements of original 1980's construction into knowledge by Appellant of defective work by CCS from 2002 through 2012 is simply unfounded and an inappropriate basis upon which to argue summary judgment.

Further, none of the testimony cited by CCS in its Memorandum in Support establishes any knowledge of defects or deficiencies in the repair work performed by CCS from 2002 through 2012.

To the extent that CCS is attempting to argue that the original contractor's installation of EIFS somehow contributed to the damages identified in the April 2012 report of SKA, that argument is

one of causation, rather than notice. The lower court erred in adopting the approach by CCS which conflates the defense of causation with the statute of limitations defense.

CCS somehow reached the conclusion, and argued that the lower court should rule, that Appellant's knowledge of problems with the original 1980's EIFS cladding, windows, and sliding glass doors establishes notice of legal claims against CCS and the other Respondents for defects and deficiencies in the renovation and repair work from 2002 to 2011. Not only is that conclusion illogical, because CCS did not perform the original work, but it is directly contradicted by evidence presented by Appellant in response to the motion for summary judgment, as Appellant was not aware of these claims before it received the reports of SKA in January and April of 2012. Because of the genuine issue of material fact regarding the discovery of Appellant's claims against CCS and the other Respondents, the lower court's order granting partial summary judgment against Appellant must be reversed, with instructions to allow a jury to determine these questions of fact.

II. Partial Summary Judgment Against Appellant was Improper When the Lower Court Did Not Apply the Discovery Rule Regarding the Accrual of a Cause of Action.

A. Appellant Did Not Discover the Existence of its Causes of Action Against Respondents Prior to June 13, 2009.

It is axiomatic at this point in South Carolina jurisprudence that the Statute of Limitations does not begin to run in a construction-defect case until the Plaintiff knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that a cause of action exists against a defendant. Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Int'l Corp., 299 S.C. 269, 384 S.E.2d 693 (1989); Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C.360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996). The claims in this lawsuit are subject to the three-year Statute of Limitations pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-530 (Law. Co-op., as amended). This lawsuit was filed on June 13, 2012.

The lower court ruled that “[Appellants] are entitled to sue [CCS] for anything [Appellants] can relate to things that [CCS] did in 2010.” Tr. at 6. Implicit in this ruling is that any work at the Shipwatch Project which the Respondents performed on or before December 31, 2009 is barred by the three-year statute of limitations. Because this lawsuit was filed on June 13, 2012, such a restriction is a clear misapplication of the plain reading of the three-year statute of limitations in S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-3-530.

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