THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2012-CP-10-03857
Appellate Case No. 2014-002766

Shipwatch Condominium Association, Inc., Appellant,

vs:

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

ARGUMENT

I. **BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS NOT SUSTAINED PROPERTY DAMAGE OR INJURY FROM THE NON-IMPACT GLASS, THE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FAIL AS A MATTER OF LAW.**

Appellant has sued EFCO and WCJ for negligence, breach of warranties, and strict liability. To recover, each of these causes of action require the Appellant to prove that the product caused property damage or injury. Because the EFCO window and door products have not caused property damage or injury, the claims against EFCO and WCJ are without merit.

To recover on its negligence action, the Appellant must prove (1) a duty of care owed to the Appellant by EFCO and WCJ; (2) a breach of the duty by a negligent act or omission by EFCO and WCJ; and (3) **damages proximately resulting from the breach.** Crolley v. Hutchins, 300 S.C. 355, 356, 387 S.E.2d 716, 717 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989)(emphasis added). Likewise, a strict liability claim under section 15-73-20 of the South Carolina Code requires the Appellant to prove "physical harm caused to the ultimate user or consumer, or to his property. . ." S.C. Code Ann § 15-73-20. Finally,

Appellant cannot recover on its warranty claims without proving the alleged product defects caused property damage or injury. Wilson v. Style Crest Products, Inc., 367 S.C. 653, 627 S.E.2d 733 (S.C. 2006).

Wilson is remarkably similar to this case. In Wilson, the Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the granting of summary judgment because the plaintiff could not prove that allegedly defectively designed and assembled mobile homes had caused or suffered any damages from high wind events. Id. The Wilson mobile home owner plaintiffs asserted claims for negligence, negligence per se, breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service, breach of implied warranty of merchantability, fraud and misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and fraudulent concealment. Id. at 656. On appeal, the plaintiffs dropped the negligence claims and argued that they could recover on the warranty and fraud claims despite the fact that the owners' property had not been damaged or injured. Id. The Supreme Court of South Carolina disagreed and found that the lack of damages meant that the mobile homes had performed satisfactorily and were, in fact, merchantable. Id. at 658. Accordingly, the court affirmed the granting of summary judgment by the trial judge. Id.

As in Wilson, the Appellant, through its expert, has admitted that the non-impact rated EFCO windows and doors are performing and have not caused any damage to the Shipwatch buildings. The following exchanges took place during a deposition of Appellant's expert Jeff Miller:

Q. The fact that buildings A and B have non-impact windows and doors installed in the buildings, is the fact that those windows and doors are non-impact causing any damage to the building?

A In and of itself, I would say no.

(R. p. 571)

Q. Did the presence of non-impact glass in those windows and doors lead to any damage to buildings C and D?

A No damage, fortunately, because we had no hurricane blow through there.

But no.

(R. p. 571).

Like in Wilson, the failure to prove damages caused by the allegedly defective product is fatal to Appellant's claims.² Accordingly, the claims are without merit and summary judgment as to Respondents EFCO and WCJ should be affirmed on this ground.

II. NO EVIDENCE OF A DEFECT WITH THE PRODUCTS HAS BEEN PRESENTED BY APPELLANT

Appellant cannot recover on any of its product liability claims against EFCO and WCJ unless it can prove that the EFCO products were defective in some way. The strict liability claim requires Appellant to prove that the product was sold in a defective condition and is unreasonably dangerous. Similarly, a claim for breach of implied warranty of merchantability requires the Appellant to prove that the products were not "fit for the ordinary purposes for which [they] are used" and that they would not "pass without objection in the trade under the contract description." S.C. Code Ann § 36-2-314.

² It should be pointed out that Plaintiff had already removed and replaced the EFCO products from buildings C and D at the time of Mr. Miller's deposition. The removal and replacement of the EFCO products from buildings A and B are underway and will be accomplished by the time this matter is considered on appeal.

Appellant has presented no evidence that the product is defective or that it is unreasonably dangerous. In fact, the undisputed evidence is that the EFCO products are performing as intended. Mr. Miller, Appellant's expert, testified as follows concerning defects with the EFCO product:

Q Do the units themselves exhibit any evidence of a defect?

A None that I recall.

(R. p. 571).

As indicated above, the failure to prove damages resulting from an allegedly defective product is evidence that a product is merchantable and not defective. Wilson, 367 S.C. at 658. Because no evidence of a defective product has been presented by Appellant, the claims against EFCO and WCJ fail. Consequently, the dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondents EFCO and WCJ should be affirmed.

III. EFCO AND WCJ HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR SELLING SOPHISTICATED CUSTOMERS EXACTLY WHAT WAS ORDERED

Charleston Glass, WCJ's customer, purchased exactly what it intended to purchase, non-impact rated window and door products from EFCO. The documents to the transaction establish that the window installation contractor that has been in business since the 1960s knew what it was purchasing. (R. pp. 709-712 & 749). The records further reflect that CCS knew it was obtaining non-impact rated products, and that the Appellant, no later than September 6, 2007, knew that it was receiving non-impact rated products. (R. pp. 745-746 & 752-753). Charleston Glass, CCS, nor Appellant ever paid for impact rated windows and doors. (R. p. 509). EFCO and WCJ willingly would have supplied impact rated products had they been purchased. (R. p. 711).

In furtherance of its negligence claim, Appellant seeks to invent a duty that it alleges WCJ and EFCO had when selling and/or manufacturing window and door products for the Shipwatch project. Through its expert Peter Sherratt, Appellant appears prepared to argue that WCJ, as a product distributor, has a duty to advise its customers on the requirements and conditions of the building codes that might be applied by the jurisdiction where the construction is taking place as it relates to window and door building components. While the testimony is less clear against the product manufacturer, EFCO, Appellant's expert, Peter Sherratt, appears prepared to offer the same opinion. Therefore, Appellant appears to argue that the terms and conditions of the commercial contract between WCJ and Charleston Glass are meaningless.

The terms of the agreement between WCJ and Charleston Glass, however, are of paramount importance. Both companies are commercially sophisticated entities. Charleston Glass had the option to order impact glass or non-impact glass from WCJ. It unequivocally made the informed decision to purchase non-impact rated glass. The only duty WCJ owed was to provide its customer what it promised to provide through the order agreement. Appellant's theory would require a vendor of a product to essentially become a building designer and dictate what products should and should not be used in the construction of buildings. It is a novel theory with no precedent in the law or in the construction materials industry.

Appellant's theory is an even greater stretch when applied to the manufacturer, EFCO. EFCO did not have direct contact with Charleston Glass concerning the purchase of products or the location of the project. (R. p. 710). WCJ simply informed EFCO as to

what Charleston Glass intended to purchase. (R. p. 710). In return, EFCO fabricated the products requested and supplied them to Charleston Glass. (R. p. 710).

While novel, Appellant's theory is akin to a "failure to warn" negligence claim. Products liability law is clear that there is no duty to warn of dangers when the customer purchasing the products in question has equal or greater knowledge about the dangers of the products than the supplier or manufacturer. *See Lawing v. Trinity Mfg. Inc.*, 406 S.C. 13, 749 S.E.2d 126 (S.C. Ct. App. 2013)(confirming that the sophisticated user doctrine is the law of South Carolina). Because Charleston Glass was a sophisticated glass contractor and had knowledge of the performance limitations of the glass contained within the window and door products it chose to purchase, WCJ had no duty to warn or to advise Charleston Glass or Appellant concerning any potential dangers associated with the non-impact glass that was selected for purchase.

Because the law does not support Appellant's theory of the duty it alleges EFCO and WCJ owed in regards to the sale of non- impact rated windows and doors, Appellant's claim for negligence fails and the dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondents EFCO and WCJ should be affirmed.

IV. EFCO AND WCJ DISCLAIMED ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES

The warranty claims also fail because EFCO and WCJ disclaimed all implied warranties as part of the sale of the commercial windows and sliding glass door products to Charleston Glass. (R. pp. 711 & 737-740). The first page of the limited warranty document contains a paragraph that states "[t]here are no warranties which extend beyond the description on the face hereof," and the final sentence in the document states that "[t]here are no other expressed or implied warranties from EFCO." (R. pp. 737-738).

The only warranty made in the limited warranty document is a limited express warranty. (R. pp. 737-738). Appellant's implied warranty claims are barred by the clear disclaimers of warranties that are clearly communicated in the limited warranty document.

Appellant has asserted claims against EFCO and WCJ alleging that they breached implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. The general rule is "a warranty that [] goods shall be merchantable is implied in a contract for their sale if the seller is a merchant with respect to goods of that kind." S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-314(1) (1976). Implied warranties, however, may be disclaimed by the seller's language. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-316 (1976). Under section 36-2-316(2) of the South Carolina Code, the implied warranty of merchantability is disclaimed where the purported disclaimer (1) mentions "merchantability", (2) is conspicuous if in writing, and (3) is specific so as not to create an ambiguity in the contract. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-316(2).

EFCO and WCJ specifically disclaimed the implied warranty of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose when it sold products to Charleston Glass for use in the Appellant's project by including the written disclaimers in the limited warranty document in such a way that the disclaimer referenced the word "merchantability" and the customer was aware of the disclaimers. Using bold font in a paragraph in the middle of the first page of the document and set apart from other language in regular font, EFCO and WCJ disclaimed the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose by stating: **"EFCO CORPORATION excludes any implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose."**

The disclaimer made by EFCO and WCJ specifically states the word "merchantability" and thereby satisfies the first requirement of section 36-2-316(2) of the

South Carolina Code. Likewise, the disclaimer meets the second and third elements of section 36-2-316(2), as it was conspicuous and not likely to create an ambiguity. Language is conspicuous when it is so written that a reasonable person against whom it is to operate ought to have noticed it. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-201(10). It must be in a distinctive color or type. Id. (“Language in the body of a form is ‘conspicuous’ if it is in larger or other contrasting type or color.”). Factors to be considered in determining whether a written disclaimer is conspicuous for purposes of § 36-2-316(2) include the following:

- (1) the color of print in which the purported disclaimer appears;
- (2) the style of print in which the disclaimer is written;
- (3) the size of the disclaiming language, particularly in relation to other print in the document;
- (4) the location of the disclaimer in the contract;
- (5) the appearance of the term “merchantability” with respect to color, style, size, and type of print in the disclaimer clause;
- and (6) the status of the parties contesting the validity of the disclaimer, namely whether they be consumers or commercially sophisticated entities.

Myrtle Beach Pipeline Corp. v. Emerson Elec. Co., 843 F. Supp.1027, 1038 (D.S.C. 1993). The factors listed above are not individually dispositive nor are they exhaustive of all the criteria that can be used in examining a disclaimer. Id.

EFCO and WCJ’s disclaimer of the implied warranty of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose meets the conspicuous requirement of section 36-2-316(2) because it is set forth as a separate paragraph in the middle of the first page of the document and styled in bold font where the remainder of the language on the page is not in bold font. Accordingly, Appellant’s claims for relief under any implied warranty theory fails.

V. APPELLANT CANNOT SUCCEED ON A CLAIM FOR BREACH OF WARRANTY FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE BECAUSE WCJ AND EFCO DID NOT RECOMMEND OR SUGGEST THE USE OF PRODUCTS WITH NON-IMPACT GLASS

Where implied warranties are not disclaimed, section 36-2-315 of the South Carolina Code creates an implied warranty for situations where the buyer relies on the skill and judgment of a seller to furnish suitable goods. S.C. Code Ann § 36-2-315. Although EFCO and WCJ effectively disclaimed any warranty of fitness for a particular purpose, Appellant's claim also fails because it has not presented any evidence to suggest that Charleston Glass was relying on WCJ or EFCO to furnish the "suitable goods" for the Shipwatch project. The only evidence is that Charleston Glass knowingly and intentionally purchased non-impact rated windows and doors instead of impact rated products offered for sale by WCJ and EFCO because it believed that non-impact rated products were acceptable for the projects.

VI. IF APPELLANT IS PERMITTED TO STATE CLAIMS AGAINST EFCO AND WCJ FOR THE PROVISION OF NON-IMPACT GLASS PRODUCTS, THE CLAIMS SHOULD NEVERTHELESS BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY ASSERT ITS CLAIMS

If the Court finds that Appellant has stated a cause of action against EFCO and WCJ for providing non-impact rated products for the project, the next inquiry is when those causes of action accrued. As stated more completely above, Appellant's experts admit that the products are performing as intended and have not caused any property damage to the buildings. Appellant appears to contend, though no expert has been able to give testimony on the subject, that impact glazing was required for the window and door products installed at Shipwatch between 2003-2010. It appears to be alleged that the

provision of the materials without impact glass was wrongful at the time the products were supplied. Based on Appellant's theory of the case, the claims against Respondents EFCO and WCJ would therefore have accrued at the time the products were supplied to the project.

The EFCO products were supplied to the Shipwatch buildings at various times between 2003 and 2010. The Shipwatch Board of Directors "chose the doors they wanted and approved the installation in 2002." (R. p. 752). In approximately 2004, 72 EFCO sliding glass doors were installed in the buildings. (R. p. 480). In performing subsequent door replacements between 2004 and 2010, Appellant desired that the new doors match the doors installed in 2004. (R. pp. 502-503 & 752).

Under South Carolina law, a cause of action generally accrues at "the moment the defendant breaches a duty owed to the plaintiff." Barr v. City of Rock Hill, 330 S.C. 640, 644, 500 S.E.2d 157, 159-60 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting Grooms v. Medical Soc'y of S.C., 298 S.C. 399, 402, 380 S.E.2d 855, 857 (Ct. App. 1989)). As an exception to the general rule, the South Carolina courts have adopted the "discovery rule", allowing for the tolling of the statute of limitations until the Plaintiff either knows or should know, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action may exist. Id. Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run upon the discovery of facts that would lead a person exercising reasonable diligence to discover that a claim might exist against another. Id. The date of discovery is to be determined by an objective analysis of the facts. Id. Even under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations starts to run before the injured party has sought counsel or developed "a full blown theory of recovery." Epstein v. Brown, 363 S.C. 372, 376, 610 S.E.2d 816, 818 (S.C. 2005).

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